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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN

Complainant
:
Mr C Irving

Scheme
:
Warwick Group Pension Scheme 1988

Bromsgrove Scheme
:

The Bromsgrove Industries Group Pension Scheme

Respondents
:
1.
Mr N Gidney CBE 



2.
Mr S Gidney



3.
Mr R Dauncey



4.
Abbey National Benefit Consultants Limited (ANBC)



5.
Lowndes Associated Pensions Limited (now Capital Cranfield Trust Corporation Limited)(Lowndes)



6.
BI Group Pension Trustees Limited (BI Trustee)



7.
BI Group plc (BI Group)



8.
Mr W J Kelly and Mr G Ord of Ernst & Young



9.
National Westminster Bank (NatWest)



10.
Bank of Scotland



11.
Onslow Boyd Group Limited (now Onslow Boyd Venture Capital Ltd)(Onslow Boyd)



12.
Kingsley Neville Limited



13.
Bradstock Trustee Services (Warwick Group Pension Scheme (1988) Limited (now Alexander Forbes Trustee Services (Warwick Group Pension Scheme 1988) Limited) (BTS Warwick)

THE COMPLAINT (dated 15 January 1998)
 AUTONUM 
Mr Irving complained that, owing to maladministration on the part of Mr N Gidney, Mr S Gidney and ANBC, loans in excess of 50% of the Scheme’s assets had been granted to the Principal Employer, Gidney Securities Limited.  As a result, his pension payments had been stopped.  With the assistance of BTS Warwick, Mr Irving amended his complaint to include the Respondents set out above.  In summary the complaints are:

(a) That Mr N Gidney and Mr S Gidney as trustees and/or administrators of the Scheme are guilty of maladministration in authorising loans to Gidney Securities Limited, purchasing Wolston Business Park (Wolston) for the Scheme, purchasing property at Earl Shilton (Earl Shilton) for the Scheme, entering a transaction with BI Group and excluding Mr Irving from that transaction.  

(b) That Mr Dauncey as trustee and/or administrator is guilty of maladministration in failing to act diligently in respect of loans to Gidney Securities Limited, the purchase of Wolston and in respect of the transaction with BI Group.  It is alleged that when he resigned he was on notice that all was not well with the Scheme but failed to follow up his concerns for 18 months.

(c) That ANBC as administrator is guilty of maladministration in that it quoted and paid transfer values at their full value despite knowing of inaccuracies in the Scheme data and that it paid Kingsley Neville Limited 25% of its fees without proper invoices.

(d) That Lowndes, as trustee and/or administrator is guilty of maladministration in respect of the purchase of Wolston and failed to secure and account for trust monies on accepting office and failed to express its concerns about the purchase of Wolston on its retirement as trustee.

(e) That BI Trustee is guilty of breach of trust and/or maladministration in relation to a charge over Wolston and concerning a property at Earl Shilton (see also paragraph 3 below).  Further it is alleged that Mr Irving was wrongly excluded from the BI Scheme following the sale of his employer to BI Group.

(f) That BI Group is guilty of breach of duty and/or maladministration in relation to a charge over Wolston and concerning a property at Earl Shilton (see also paragraph 3 below).  Further it is alleged that Mr Irving was wrongly excluded from the BI Scheme following the sale of his employer to BI Group.

(g) That Mr Kelly and Mr Ord are guilty of maladministration as administrators in failing in their duty to satisfy themselves that at least one trustee of the Scheme was independent for the purposes of section 119 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993.

(h) That NatWest is guilty of maladministration as administrator in honouring a cheque despite notice from BTS Warwick that it should not do so.

(i) That Bank of Scotland is guilty of maladministration as administrator in that it lent money taking the assets of the Scheme as security.

(j) That Onslow Boyd as administrator is guilty of maladministration in that it was engaged as a consultant to the Scheme and was paid £6,000 per month but did not provide any services.

(k) That Kingsley Neville Limited is guilty of maladministration as administrator in that it received payments from ANBC from the Scheme pursuant to an improper arrangement.

Mr Irving did not make any specific allegations against BTS Warwick, the current trustee of the Scheme, but joined it as a Respondent.  

 AUTONUM 
I have previously had to consider matters concerning the Scheme in my capacity as Chairman of the Pensions Compensation Board.  Mr N and Mr S Gidney objected to me determining the complaints against them in my capacity as Pensions Ombudsman.  I considered that, whilst in my opinion the decision made by the Pensions Compensation Board did not in fact make it improper for me, as Pensions Ombudsman, to investigate and determine the complaint against Mr N and Mr S Gidney, in order to avoid any possible allegation of bias or unfairness, I decided to hold over the complaints against Mr N and Mr S Gidney for determination by my successor who is due to take over on 1 September 2001.  I decided to continue to investigate and determine those complaints which could be severed from the complaints against Mr N and Mr S Gidney.  Having consulted with all parties I decided that I would determine the complaints listed in paragraph 1(c), (e), (f), (h), (i), (j) and (k) above and the dispute outlined in paragraph 3 below and that the complaints against Mr N and Mr S Gidney, Mr Dauncey , Lowndes, Mr Kelly and Mr Ord should be held over and will not determined by me in this document.  Further, on 27 July 2001 I was contacted by solicitors newly instructed by Onlsow Boyd requesting a substantial extension of time.  Rather than further delay the determination of the other part of complaint I decided also to hold over the complaint against Onslow Boyd.  
THE DISPUTE (dated 7 August 1998) 

 AUTONUM 
BTS Warwick referred a dispute of law with BI Group and BI Trustee (the Dispute).  This is connected with the complaint brought by Mr Irving against BI Group and BI Trustees.  The Dispute is as to the validity of a charge to BI Trustees over Wolston which, as at August 1998, secured an amount of approximately £690,000.  I dealt with jurisdictional objections to my investigation of the Dispute in a Determination of Preliminary Issues dated 14 January 1999.  The investigation of the Dispute was then suspended pending the investigation of Mr Irving’s complaints.  BTS Warwick then requested that the Dispute be investigated at the same time as Mr Irving’s complaints.  At that stage I reconsidered the position as to jurisdiction in the light of the decision of the Court of Appeal in Edge v Pensions Ombudsman [2000] Ch 602.  My conclusion was that the investigation was not precluded, as the outcome would not have an adverse impact on the interests of those not represented and not parties to the complaint.  Further, Edge concerned my jurisdiction prior to the Pensions Act 1995, which gave me jurisdiction to consider disputes between trustees of different pension schemes.  

MATERIAL FACTS - General

 AUTONUM 
The Scheme was established by Interim Trust Deed dated 29 March 1978.  The Scheme was at all material times governed by a Definitive Trust Deed and Rules dated 16 March 1981 (as amended from time to time) (the Deed and Rules).  With effect from 1 June 1988 Warwick Industries Limited became the Principal Employer of the Scheme (Warwick Industries Limited later changed its name to Gidney Securities Limited).  By deed executed on or about 20 June 1989 Mr N Gidney, Mr S Gidney and Lowndes were appointed as trustees of the Scheme.  On 4 August 1989 Lowndes was removed as a trustee and Mr Dauncey appointed.  

 AUTONUM 
On 20 November 1990 Mr N Gidney, Mr S Gidney and Mr Dauncey were replaced as trustees by Warwick Group Pension Trustees Limited (WGPT).  The directors of WGPT were Mr N Gidney, Mr S Gidney and Mr Dauncey.  Mr Dauncey resigned as a director on 19 October 1992.

 AUTONUM 
On 8 December 1997 Bradstock Trustee Services Limited (Bradstocks) was appointed Independent Trustee.  On 19 December 1997 WGPT was removed as a trustee.  On 24 February 1998 BTS Warwick was appointed as Independent Trustee in place of Bradstocks.

 AUTONUM 
In this Determination I refer to companies connected with Gidney Securities Limited as the Warwick Group and to the trustees of the Scheme at the relevant times as the Trustees.

 AUTONUM 
The Scheme loan account with Gidney Securities Limited, produced by the liquidator of Gidney Securities Limited, shows a balance due to the Scheme by Gidney Securities Limited of £3,187,677 (of which £600,000 is recorded as having been lent prior to 1 June 1988).  The facts of these loans have been challenged by some of the Respondents and I therefore make no findings in this Determination as to their accuracy.  It is however not in dispute that by December 1997, Gidney Securities Limited owed a significant sum to the Scheme.  I set out below a summary of draft Scheme accounts which have been produced to me.  These have not been signed by the auditors or the appropriate trustees (and those for 1996 are marked as “Draft”), and I therefore make no findings as to their accuracy.  

Year to
Loans to Gidney Securities Limited and associates
Value of Wolston
Other main assets
Total net assets

31.5.91
1,283,161 
2,121,625
1,200,000 Scottish Equitable
4,834,425 (inc bank loan to Scheme of 901,987)

31.5.92
2,535,092
2,121,625
33,859 Scottish Equitable
4,097,902 (bank loan 1,258,835)

31.5.93
2,776,018
2,121,625
16,995 Scottish Equitable
3,801,603 (bank loan £1,174,336)

31.5.94
3,068,709
2,121,625
None
3,717,003 (bank loan 1,403,065)

31.5.95
2,857,359
3,000,000
None
3,591,137 (bank loan 1,362,845)

31.5.96
3,187,677
3,000,000
None
3,803,060 (bank loan 2,386,060)

 AUTONUM 
I understand that as at March 1999 the liabilities of the Scheme were assessed on an MFR basis at approximately £4.2m.  

 AUTONUM 
On 12 May 1989 a report on Wolston was produced for the Bank of Scotland by surveyors Debenham Tewson and Chesshire (DTC).  DTC reported that Wolston was producing a gross annual rental income of £188,500 and was given a market value “on the information provided by you” of £2.1m.

 AUTONUM 
On or shortly after 2 June 1989 Mr N Gidney and Mr S Gidney executed a loan agreement , as Trustees of the Scheme, with the Bank of Scotland for £1m to assist in the purchase of Wolston from Gidney Securities Limited.  The loan was for a period of 10 years at 2% over base (with a minimum of 8.5%) and quarterly payments of principal and interest of £50,530 were to be made.  

 AUTONUM 
On 21 July 1989 Edge & Ellison (now Hammond Suddards Edge), solicitors to the Warwick Group, wrote to the Bank of Scotland confirming that the Trustees had both the power to purchase Wolston and the power to borrow and secure the borrowings.  On 2 August 1989 Edge & Ellison wrote again to the Bank of Scotland.  The Bank of Scotland had apparently confirmed that it would not lend on the property unless a third trustee was appointed in place of Lowndes.  The loan was secured by a First Legal Charge (the Mortgage) over Wolston which was executed on 9 August 1989 by Mr N Gidney, Mr S Gidney and Mr Dauncey.  

 AUTONUM 
I understand from contemporaneous correspondence that Wolston was purchased by the Trustees from Gidney Securities Limited on 4 August 1989 for £2.1m.  No Transfer document has been found.

 AUTONUM 
In January 1992 the Bank of Scotland was approached by WGPT (by then the sole Trustee) and asked for a further loan of £320,000 in order to pay a transfer from the Scheme.  This was confirmed by the Bank of Scotland on 7 June 1993, made and secured on Wolston.  The loan was accepted by letter signed by Mr N Gidney.  It was to be repaid from the sale of Wolston no later than 4 June 1994.  

Bank of Scotland

 AUTONUM 
Bank of Scotland submitted that it did not fall within my jurisdiction as it was not an “administrator” in relation to the Scheme.  Regulation 1 of The Personal and Occupational Pension Schemes (Pensions Ombudsman) Regulations 1996 defines an administrator as a person concerned with the administration of a pension scheme.  I have no doubt that in certain circumstances a bank can be an administrator.  Mr Irving asked me to investigate in particular that Bank of Scotland lent money to Mr N Gidney using the Scheme assets as security.  Bank of Scotland did lend money using Scheme assets as security but, from the evidence I have seen, that money was all paid to the Trustees.  Whilst it appears questionable that a bank should lend such large sums to pension scheme trustees without apparent concern (other than for its own security), I do not find that in lending money to the Trustees in this way Bank of Scotland was acting as an administrator for the purposes of my jurisdiction.  Lending money in this way and the management of the loan was a strategic banking decision.  There is no complaint as to the manner in which Bank of Scotland actually managed the overdraft which could, in some circumstances, amount to acts in connection with the administration of a pension scheme.  I have therefore treated the complaint against Bank of Scotland as having been withdrawn.  Bank of Scotland remained involved with my investigation and assisted me in the provision of information.  

Earl Shilton property

 AUTONUM 
BTS Warwick submitted that this property was sold by the Scheme to Gidney Securities Limited in 1989.  Documents produced to me show that Earl Shilton was purchased by Gidney Securities Limited from the Receivers of Eatoughs Limited on 3 January 1990.  A schedule of deeds for Earl Shilton does not list the Trustees as ever having owned or had a proprietary interest in it.  I therefore cannot agree with BTS Warwick’s submission.

 AUTONUM 
It appears that there was an increase on the Trustees’ loan account with Gidney Securities Limited of £155,000 in 1989, which is recorded as being for the purchase of Earl Shilton.  BTS Warwick contended that, if this sum had been used to discharge secured lending on Earl Shilton it could give rise to a proprietary interest in Earl Shilton in favour of the Scheme.  Mr N and Mr S Gidney have confirmed to me that the £155,000 was used by Gidney Securities Limited as part of the purchase price of the property.  There is no evidence that this was anything other than a straightforward loan and I do not find that the Scheme has any proprietary interest in Earl Shilton.  

Bromsgrove Transfer

 AUTONUM 
In March 1988 BI Group purchased the share capital of Eurocast Bar Limited (Eurocast) from Gidney Securities Limited (then known as Warwick Engineering Investments Limited).  A schedule to the sale and purchase agreement provided for Eurocast pensionable employees to transfer from the Scheme to the Bromsgrove Scheme and that Gidney Securities Limited would “use its best endeavours to procure that the Trustees of [the Scheme] will subject to the current terms and conditions thereof pay to [BI Trustee] a transfer payment”.  The Eurocast employees were to remain in the Scheme for a “participation period” of up to 9 months from completion.

 AUTONUM 
On 10 February 1990 BI Group purchased the share capital of Dawson Downie Lamont Limited (DDL) from Gidney Securities Limited.  A schedule to the sale and purchase agreement provided for DDL pensionable employees who consented to transfer from the Scheme to the Bromsgrove Scheme to do so and that Gidney Securities Limited would “use its best endeavours to procure that the Trustees of [the Scheme] will subject to the current terms and conditions thereof pay to [BI Trustees] a transfer payment”.  The schedule also provided that benefits for transferring members would only be secured in the BI Scheme to the extent of the transfer value actually received.  The DDL employees were to remain in the Scheme for a “participation period” of up to 6 months from completion.

 AUTONUM 
I refer to Eurocast and DDL employees who transferred to the BI Scheme as Transferring Members.  The Scheme Actuary and the actuary to the Bromsgrove Scheme (the BI Actuary) agreed a transfer value in respect of Eurocast of £506,885 as at 8 April 1992 with an additional £190 interest accruing per day.  On 29 July 1992 the BI Actuary wrote to Mr Wolstenholme (a director of Kingsley Neville) expressing concern that neither the Eurocast nor DDL transfer payments had been received and that DDL membership data was still awaited.  On 17 September 1992 Mr Wolstenholme wrote to the BI Actuary saying that new administrators had been appointed and a transfer payment would not be made by the Trustees until the Scheme data had been audited and the actuarial position confirmed.  In response, the BI Actuary reminded Mr Wolstenholme that the liability for the payment remained with Gidney Securities Limited under the terms of the sale agreement, and not with the Trustees.  I understand that an on account transfer payment of £250,000 was made in October 1992.  

 AUTONUM 
On 30 November 1993 Gidney Securities Limited gave notice to WGPT that it intended terminating its liability to contribute to the Scheme, with effect from 31 January 1994.  On 13 April 1995 Mr N Gidney confirmed that the Scheme was not being wound up but was being run as a closed scheme.  

 AUTONUM 
On 30 March 1995 Wragge & Co (solicitors for BI Group and BI Trustee) wrote to Mr Dauncey.  This letter recorded that Mr N Gidney had confirmed on behalf of WGPT that it did have an ongoing obligation to pay the outstanding balance in respect of Eurocast and DDL to BI Trustee.  Wragge & Co stated that they understood that the Scheme was being wound up with effect from 31 January 1994 and that this would create an obligation to secure the benefits of deferred members including Eurocast and DDL employees.  

 AUTONUM 
After considerable pressure from the BI Actuary, BI Group and their solicitors, an agreement was formalised on 19 May 1995 (the May 1995 Agreement).  In short WGPT granted BI Trustee a legal charge over Wolston, and the Earl Shilton property was transferred to BI Trustee thus discharging £500,000 of the transfer payment, by now agreed at approximately £990,000.  

 AUTONUM 
The documents executed as part of the May 1995 Agreement were:

(a) A Debenture between WGPT, BI Trustee and BI Group.  This recorded that the value of the benefits relating to the Transferring Members was £990, 703, and that WGPT confirmed that it was under an obligation to secure the transfer of assets of such an amount, to secure that those benefits are paid by the Bromsgrove Scheme, and that the value of benefits was a debt due from WGPT to Bromsgrove.

(b) A Transfer Deed between BI Trustee and WGPT (see paragraph 33 below).  

(c) A Legal Charge whereby BI Trustee took a charge over Wolston in respect of sums due to it under the Debenture.

(d) A Deed regulating priorities as between Bank of Scotland and BI Trustee.  

(e) A Transfer of the Earl Shilton property from Signbest Limited to BI Trustee.  This recorded that WGPT confirmed that it was under an obligation to secure the transfer of assets to the Bromsgrove Scheme “of such an amount to secure that the benefits are paid by the Bromsgrove Scheme”.  Following the transfer of Earl Shilton the sum of £490,703 would continue to be a debt due from WGPT to BI Trustee.   

 AUTONUM 
The basic structure of both the Eurocast and DDL transactions was that the companies entered the sale agreement.  Neither set of trustees was a party and therefore neither was bound by the provisions of the sale agreements.  To the extent that the sale agreements have been breached this is a matter between BI Group and Gidney Securities Limited (which of course is in liquidation).  My concern is the obligations of each set of trustees and, in particular the effect of the May 1995 Agreement.

 AUTONUM 
I must first consider whether the Scheme was in winding-up as at May 1995.  Gidney Securities Limited had given notice of intention to cease contributions.  Rule 27 of the Deed and Rules provides that the liability of an employer to contribute may be terminated after three months notice in writing to the Trustees and the members, or in the event of an employer ceasing to carry on business.  If the Principal Employer ceases to contribute, then the Scheme shall be wound up and Rule 28 applies.  Rule 28 requires benefits to be secured in priority order.  Rule 28(d) provides that the Trustees are permitted “in their discretion … to continue the Fund ... and to administer the same as a closed fund”.  There is no requirement for any formal resolution of the Trustees.

 AUTONUM 
I have considered arguments on behalf of BTS Warwick that (a) the lack of evidence of a decision to run the Scheme as a closed scheme, (b) statements from Kingsley Neville that the Scheme was being wound up and (c) that in the financial circumstances “the only decision which WGPT could properly have taken was to wind up”, ought to lead me to a conclusion that the Scheme was in winding-up as at May 1995.  However, on balance, in the absence of any positive evidence that any steps were taken to wind up the Scheme and therefore de facto WGPT did continue the Scheme as a closed fund in accordance with Rule 28, and in view of the statement of Mr Gidney of 13 April 1995, I find that the Scheme had not commenced winding up as at May 1995.  The Scheme did not commence winding up until after the appointment of Bradstocks.  I make this finding for the purposes of my determination of the Dispute only.  On the basis of my finding that the Scheme was not in winding-up as at 19 May 1995, many of BTS Warwick’s arguments fall away.  I have also been asked by the solicitors for Bradstocks to determine whether, if the Scheme was indeed run as a closed scheme, that was a proper decision for the Trustees to make.  However, as rightly suggested by them, even if I were to conclude that it was an improper decision for the Trustees to have made, in so far as that decision impacted on the Bromsgrove Transfer similar considerations would apply as those set out in paragraph 36 below and I would not direct the reversal of the transfer.

 AUTONUM 
It has been argued that, on the basis that the Scheme was in deficit, a transfer value of £990,703 was not due.  Where a scheme is in deficit it can apply for cash equivalents to be reduced.  WGPT had not done this in respect of the Transferring Members.  Indeed, at the time of the transfers and at the time of the May 1995 agreements, the Scheme was not, on paper, in deficit although it had almost no liquid assets and its other investments (the loans and Wolston) were of uncertain value.  I do not find that the transfer payment due from the Trustees to BI Trustee could properly be said to be less then the cash equivalent, and I cannot find any grounds for overruling the £990,703 figure agreed between WGPT and BI Trustee.  

 AUTONUM 
I do not find that it was improper for BI Trustee to take the charge over Wolston.  It had a duty, not only to the Transferring Members to seek to secure their benefits, but also to the existing members to maintain the solvency of the Bromsgrove Scheme.  BI Trustee had been assured that the Scheme was not winding up and that it was not in deficit.  WGPT had acknowledged it owed a debt in respect of the Transferring Members and BI Trustee took the steps it felt necessary to seek to secure that debt for the benefit of all the members of the Bromsgrove Scheme.  

 AUTONUM 
I must now consider where the liability for benefits in respect of the Transferring Members lies.  There is no dispute that BI Trustee has liability for benefits accrued since the Transferring Members joined the Bromsgrove Scheme.  BI Trustee must also have taken responsibility for benefits to the value of £500,000 in respect of the Earl Shilton transfer.  BI Trustee is currently paying full benefits to Transferring Members but has reserved the position.

 AUTONUM 
Clause 12 of the Deed and Rules provides that the Trustees may, at the request of a member, transfer “such sum or assets” as they determine to be equivalent in value to the benefits due, to another approved pension arrangement, and that, once such a transfer is made, the member shall cease to be a member.  This does suggest that if a payment is made which is less than the value of the benefits due, the Trustees are not discharged and benefits remain due from the Scheme.  

 AUTONUM  
Clause 6 of the Bromsgrove Deed provides that BI Trustee may accept a transfer of assets from another scheme “and upon doing so shall confer in respect of the person to whom the transfer relates such benefits or additional benefits under the Scheme as [BI Trustee] shall consider … to be reasonable”.  

 AUTONUM 
As is relevant, the Transfer Deed (see paragraph 24(b)) provided:


“1
In consideration of [WGPT] signing the Transfer [of Earl Shilton] and the Legal Charge [BI Trustee] agrees:

1.1 to accept such part of the liabilities of [the Scheme] in respect of Transferring Members as [BI Trustee] shall consider … to be equal to the value effectively received by [BI Trustee] as additional assets of the Bromsgrove Scheme pursuant to the Transfer and the Legal Charge from time to time; and

1.2 to provide in respect of each Transferring Member benefits under the Bromsgrove Scheme which are equal in value to the benefits to which he was entitled or prospectively entitled under the [Scheme] …

3 [WGPT] hereby agrees that if and to the extent that the value effectively received by [BI Trustee] pursuant to the Transfer [of Earl Shilton] and the Legal Charge, within 36 months of the date hereof, is less than the amount required by [BI Trustee] to provide the benefits for and in respect of the Transferring Members as set out in paragraph 1.2 above, it shall immediately pay to [BI Trustee] from the assets of the Warwick Scheme such shortfall.

5
The transfer of liabilities made under clause 1 of this deed shall operate to relieve [WGPT] of the liability for the payment of benefits … to or in respect of Transferring Members only up to the value effectively received by [BI Trustee] pursuant to the Transfer [of Earl Shilton] and the Legal Charge from time to time.”

 AUTONUM 
I find that the effect of this agreement is that BI Trustee has taken on the liability to pay pension benefits to the Transferring Members of equivalent value to their entire past service benefits in the Scheme (clause 1.2).  In return, BI Trustee received £500,000 of value from Earl Shilton and is owed the balance of the transfer value which was secured by way of the Legal Charge.  If, as transpired, the Legal Charge had not resulted in BI Trustee receiving the balance of the transfer value (a sum in excess of £400,000) by 19 May 1998, then the outstanding sum became immediately payable by WGPT to BI Trustee (clause 3) notwithstanding the Legal Charge.

 AUTONUM 
As far as the Transferring Members are concerned, BI Trustee is obliged to pay them the full value of their Scheme benefits (as well as additional benefits accrued in the Bromsgrove Scheme).  In addition, the Transferring Members have retained a right, as against BTS Warwick, to claim benefits up to a total value of the outstanding transfer payment due from the Scheme.  The effect of this is that the Transferring Members are entitled to choose whether to require their full benefits from the Bromsgrove Scheme, or to require part of their benefits from the Bromsgrove Scheme and part from the Scheme.  

 AUTONUM 
WGPT had an obligation to both remaining Scheme members and the Transferring Members.  In executing the May 1995 Agreement it risked preferring the Transferring Members over the other Scheme members.  At that time the Gidneys must have known that Gidney Securities Limited was in financial difficulties and thus feared that the loans might not be repaid.  There is no evidence that at that time the Trustees gave any consideration to not arranging the transfer and to leaving Gidney Securities Limited to undertake its obligations under the company sale agreements (see paragraph 25).  It might therefore be argued that I should direct the complete reversal of the May 1995 Agreement on the basis that it was made in breach of trust.  BI Trustee argues that it cannot be required to reverse the transfer as it was the bona fide purchaser for value without notice of the breach of trust.  I have no doubt that BI Group (and thus probably BI Trustee) was aware of the financial difficulties of Gidney Securities Limited and thus wanted the May 1995 Agreement to go through urgently.  BI Trustee knew that the Scheme had cash flow problems.  I have considered submissions made on behalf of BTS Warwick that it was exceptionally unusual for a pension scheme to have cash flow problems and that BI Trustee was on notice that “things were very much awry”.  Having considered the evidence I do not find that BI Trustee was actually aware or had reasonable grounds to believe that the Scheme had no assets other than Wolston and the loans to Gidney Securities Limited.  Indeed, a minute of a meeting of BI Trustee of 19 May 1995 records that Mr N Gidney had confirmed that the Scheme had no liquid assets to pay the transfer value but was “properly funded”.  Nor can I find that there is any general duty on trustees of receiving schemes to satisfy themselves as to the solvency of a paying scheme when negotiating a transfer payment following a bulk transfer.  In these circumstances I find that it would be inequitable now to direct a reversal of the May 1995 Agreement.

 AUTONUM 
In summary I find that the Legal Charge in favour of the BI Trustee over Wolston is valid and that the outstanding transfer value is due from the Scheme to the Bromsgrove Scheme.  I find that Transferring Members are entitled to look to the BI Trustee for the payment of their entire benefits in respect of membership of the Scheme and the Bromsgrove Scheme.

Mr Irving

 AUTONUM 
Mr Irving was employed as Managing Director of DDL.  Following the purchase of DDL by BI Group, Mr Irving was invited to join the Bromsgrove Scheme with effect from 6 April 1992, and to transfer his past service entitlement from the Scheme.  Mr Irving became a member of the Bromsgrove Scheme.  In a memorandum to a Mr Mills of BI Group on 13 January 1993, Mr Irving stated that he had been promised an enhanced pension with no actuarial reduction for early retirement from the Scheme.  He also indicated that he was intending taking an immediate early retirement pension from the Scheme.  There appears to be no dispute that these benefits were in fact promised to him under the Scheme but it appears that this had not been disclosed to BI Group at the time of its acquisition of DDL.

 AUTONUM 
On 31 July 1990 BI Group wrote to Mr Irving confirming that “The details of your superannuation benefits with Warwick are currently being checked … I confirm any arrangements under the Warwick Scheme will be honoured by Bromsgrove”.  On 28 May 1992 the administrator of the Bromsgrove Scheme wrote Mr Irving confirming the benefits he would be awarded should he join the Bromsgrove Scheme and transfer his benefits from the Scheme.  Mr Irving disputed the proposed actuarial reduction of any early retirement pension.  On 25 June 1992 the administrator of the Bromsgrove Scheme sent Mr Irving a letter confirming that the BI Trustee wished to honour his benefits under the Scheme and that if a categorical statement could be obtained from the Trustees that Mr Irving was entitled to unreduced early retirement then that would be honoured under the Bromsgrove Scheme.  Such statements were obtained.  On 30 July 1992 the chief executive of BI Group wrote to Mr Irving confirming that he proposed to recommend to the BI Trustee that his arrangements with the Scheme would continue “providing the past funding is available”.  I understand that, in a telephone call in early November to BI Group, Mr Irving advised that he was considering taking his early retirement benefits from the Scheme and not transferring them to the Bromsgrove Scheme.  On 6 January 1993 it was confirmed to BI Group that Mr Irving would indeed be taking his early retirement benefits from the Scheme.  During that period Mr Irving had sought to join the Bromsgrove Scheme for future service with effect from April 1992.  It appears that mistakes were made in his contributions to the Bromsgrove Scheme.

 AUTONUM 
Mr N Gidney and the Chairman of BI Group subsequently agreed in principle that the responsibility for the payment of Mr Irving’s benefits would be split, with the Bromsgrove Scheme being responsible only for reduced early retirement benefits for the period from 6 April 1992 as well as any additional funding required in respect of increased benefits due to Mr Irving’s salary increases post-April 1992.  I understand that it was agreed that the Scheme would be responsible for paying unreduced early retirement benefits for the period to April 1992 plus an additional sum representing the reduction for early retirement of Mr Irving’s benefits from the Bromsgrove Scheme.  My understanding is that the intended effect of this would be that Mr Irving’s aggregate benefits would be an unreduced two-thirds pension.  

 AUTONUM 
On 19 May 1995, as part of the May 1995 Agreement WGPT, BI Trustee and BI Group entered into a side letter in respect of Mr Irving.  It was agreed that WGPT would pay in full Mr Irving’s benefits for the period February 1990 to April 1992.  It made no mention of the previous discussions as to sharing the costs of Mr Irving’s benefits (see paragraph 40 above) but did record a reduction in the transfer payment from WGPT to BI Trustee in return for WGPT accepting responsibility for the payments.  

 AUTONUM 
BI Group made it clear to Mr Irving that it would accept no liability to pay his benefits pre-April 1992 (nor the value of the enhancement on post-April 1992 benefits) but would continue to assist him in pursuing his entitlement from the Scheme.  On 26 May 1995 Mr Irving effectively settled his claim for benefits under the Bromsgrove Scheme.  This was on the basis of a reduced early retirement pension in respect of the period 6 April 1992 to 30 April 1994.  This was accepted by his solicitor on the basis that BI Group continued to assist him in any claims he might have in respect of the Scheme.

 AUTONUM 
I am unable to uphold Mr Irving’s complaint against BI Group and BI Trustee.  It is clear from the correspondence that Mr Irving (albeit reluctantly on his part as a result of the financial circumstances he found himself in at that time) did accept the offer made to him in full and final settlement of his pension claim against BI Group and BI Trustee.  I cannot now go behind that agreement.

 AUTONUM 
I do, however, have the following comments.  Mr Irving was lead to believe by BI Group that all his Scheme benefits would be transferred to the Bromsgrove Scheme and that any enhancements he had been promised in the Scheme would be honoured.  I accept that this was his intention and the original intention of the BI Group.  However, because of a dispute between the Scheme and the Bromsgrove Scheme as to the level of benefits to which Mr Irving was entitled and who should pay for those benefits, it appears that BI Trustee was not willing to accept him into the Bromsgrove Scheme on the terms Mr Irving had previously agreed with the Scheme without first receiving sufficient funds from the Scheme.  Those funds were not forthcoming.  BI Trustee was not bound to accept Mr Irving for membership on terms other than those offered by BI Trustee.  Although BI Group had indicated to Mr Irving that his benefits in the Scheme would be honoured in the Bromsgrove Scheme I do not find that the correspondence produced in this investigation has established that any contract, or other legally enforceable agreement, to this effect was made.  Even if that correspondence did evidence a legally binding agreement it’s terms were overtaken by the settlement referred to in paragraph 43.  It does appear that there was some maladministration in the setting up of Mr Irving’s contributions to the Bromsgrove Scheme post April 1992.  However, in view of the settlement by Mr Irving it is not open to me to find that he has suffered any injustice as a result.  

 AUTONUM 
Was WGPT guilty of maladministration? It appears that it was accepted by WGPT that Mr Irving had been promised unreduced early retirement in the Scheme.  This was apparently not disclosed on the sale of DDL to BI Group.  The disclosure was a matter for the company sale agreement and responsibility does not lie with the Trustees.  If Gidney Securities Limited failed properly to disclose Mr Irving’s benefits (and this appears to be the case), thus effectively jeopardising the transfer of his pension benefits to the Bromsgrove Scheme, then that could well be a breach of its duty of good faith to Mr Irving and give him a cause to complaint against Gidney Securities Limited.  Unfortunately for Mr Irving, however, Gidney Securities Limited is in liquidation.  

 AUTONUM 
I understand that, until payments were suspended in December 1997, Mr Irving received from the Scheme the benefits to which understands he is properly entitled.  As a result of the deficit in the Scheme, which itself is a result of the loans and the purchase of Wolston, those benefits are not currently being paid.  

NatWest

 AUTONUM 
WGPT held a Scheme bank account with NatWest.  The name of the account was the “Warwick Engineering Pension Trust”.  On 9 December 1997 Bradstocks wrote to NatWest enclosing a copy of its Deed of Appointment and instructing that no payments should be made from the account without Bradstocks’ prior approval.  NatWest was also informed, by telephone on 19 December 1997 and by fax on 29 December 1997, of the removal of WGPT as a trustee of the Scheme.  On 31 December 1997 NatWest honoured a cheque for £10,000, made payable to Bank of Scotland, which had apparently been written earlier and post-dated by Mr N Gidney.

 AUTONUM 
NatWest has submitted that its customer at all times was “the Trustees of the [Scheme]” and that the account was operated by way of a mandate authorising three individuals to sign.  NatWest accepts that, under statute on the appointment of Bradstocks, the discretions of the trustees of the Scheme became exercisable by Bradstocks alone.  However, it maintains that this did not compel it to act on Bradstocks’ instructions as Bradstocks was not a party to the mandate.  NatWest wrote to Bradstocks on 6 January 1998 confirming that its legal advisers were verifying the appointment, apologising for the delay and confirming that “the Bank equally has a duty of care to the pensioners and thus before releasing funds must ensure that those requesting such action are correctly appointed”.

 AUTONUM 
NatWest submitted that, as a matter of banking law and practice, it is obliged to honour cheques “regardless of who had the proper authority to instruct the Bank”.  The cheque had been correctly drawn in accordance with the mandate before 9 December 1997 (although NatWest is unable to confirm when).  

 AUTONUM 
NatWest seeks to rely on the case of Liggett (Liverpool) Limited v Barclays Bank [1928] 1 KB 48.  This, according to NatWest, is authority for the proposition, that even where a cheque is incorrectly drawn, “the banker will be entitled to the benefit of that payment if he can show that the payment went to discharge a legal liability of the customer”.  They claim that Bradstocks was not their customer and that, in any event, the Scheme has suffered no loss, as the £10,000 went to satisfy part of the Scheme’s indebtedness to Bank of Scotland.

 AUTONUM 
When asked to confirm who were the “Trustees” of the Scheme from whom they took instructions, NatWest stated that they were Mr N, Mr S and Carol Gidney.  Carol Gidney was, to the best of my knowledge, never a Trustee of the Scheme.  NatWest submitted that its customers were these three individuals (who apparently had agreed to accept personal liability to NatWest) and not the trustees for the time being of the Scheme as a “corporate” body.   

 AUTONUM 
In Barclays Bank plc v Quincecare Ltd [1991] 4 All ER 409, it was held that a bank would be liable if it executed an order knowing it to be dishonestly given, or shut its eyes to the obvious fact of the dishonesty, or acted recklessly in failing to make such enquiries as an honest and reasonable man would make.  It was further held that a banker was under a duty to refrain from executing an order if he/she was put on inquiry in the sense that he/she had reasonable grounds for believing that the order was an attempt to misappropriate funds.  This duty was found to be subordinate to a bank’s prima facie duty to execute a proper order.  

 AUTONUM 
NatWest received clear instructions and proof of appointment from a reputable professional trustee company that no further payments were to be made without its authority.  Not only did it fail to have any regard to that instruction, but then sought to justify its own default.  NatWest acknowledged that it had a responsibility to protect the interests of Scheme members.  In cashing the cheque with complete disregard to the instructions of Bradstocks it failed in this.  A banker is bound to refuse payment if he/she believes, or a reasonable banker would have grounds for believing, that the authorised signatories on an account are misusing their authority, or if he/she is on notice that the payment is in breach of trust.  Further, in the recent case of Crantrave Ltd v Lloyds Bank plc (Times 24 April 2000), the Court of Appeal held that, in order to defeat a customer’s claim for restitution in favour of a bank, either authorisation or ratification of the payment is required.  Pill LJ went on to say that “It is a startling proposition that bankers can pay sums to a third party out of a customer’s account because they believe the customer to be indebted to that third party … The bank could decide in what priority the claims of creditors were to be met out of the sums in the account, without the customer having recourse against the bank”.  This is apt here.  In paying the £10,000 to Bank of Scotland, NatWest effectively made a decision as to the priority in which payments should be made from the Scheme.  This was a decision for Bradstocks (and latterly BTS Warwick) and not for NatWest.  I find that this amounted to maladministration on the part of Nat West.

 AUTONUM 
However, in a letter dated 14 September 1998 to NatWest, Eversheds (acting for BTS Warwick) stated that “the relationship between BTS Warwick and the Bank of Scotland is delicate.  BTS Warwick has had to work hard to persuade it to allow time to realise the property in an orderly manner and not to appoint a receiver to conduct a “fire sale”… you should not jeopardise the realisation of Wolston by seeking repayment from Bank of Scotland”.  In view of this stance taken by BTS Warwick, I am not satisfied that, had NatWest reverted to BTS Warwick in December 1997 and requested instructions in respect of the cheque, BTS Warwick would have done anything other than approve the payment.  Therefore, despite having found maladministration on the part of NatWest, I do not find that Mr Irving has suffered any injustice as a result.

Abbey National Benefit Consultants

 AUTONUM 
It is alleged that ANBC must have been aware of the problems of the Scheme.  Accounts had not been signed off and the auditor had not accepted formal appointment.  ANBC took no steps to report this to the Occupational Pensions Regulatory Authority (Opra) (post-April 1997).  Further it was paying Kingsley Neville 25% of its own fees.

 AUTONUM 
ANBC was employed under a customer services agreement with WGPT dated 1 November 1992.  This provided that ANBC would provide recording keeping and administration services to the Scheme including the calculation of benefits and transfer values and the maintenance and vetting of Scheme documentation.  ANBC was to receive an annual fee of £8,500 plus a per capita charge for each member.  No written agreement between ANBC and Kingsley Neville in respect of the 25% payment has been found.  A resolution of WGPT of 1 November 1992 delegated to ANBC the calculation of benefits and the daily administration of the Scheme, and required ANBC to keep WGPT informed of “matters of importance arising from their administration of the Scheme”.

 AUTONUM 
It was submitted on behalf of ANBC that it was asked by a predecessor company to Kingsley Neville “to provide limited administration services”.  Its role was limited to the maintenance of computer records and the calculation of benefits and transfers.  It was never asked to advise WGPT on its duties as trustee nor did it ever hold Scheme funds.  It did not see any Scheme accounts until March 1997 when it was sent draft accounts.  On taking up appointment in November 1992 the files were in disarray.  ANBC had difficulty in calculating transfers because of the poor information available.  On 7 June 1995 it was informed by the Scheme Actuary that no further transfers should be paid because of lack of funding information and that he had resigned.  It was not until a letter of 13 June 1995 from the Scheme Actuary that ANBC was informed of his concerns in respect of Scheme investments.  By January 1996 another Scheme Actuary had still not been appointed and ANBC offered actuarial assistance.  In March 1997 ANBC provided Kingsley Neville with a summary of the Pensions Act 1995 highlighting those matters of particular concern.  On 15 May 1997 ANBC did consider referring the matter to Opra and on 4 July 1997 it informed Kingsley Neville that a report would have to be made to Opra.  ANBC was then told by Mr N Gidney, on 1 August 1997, that Opra had already been informed.  On 4 December 1997 ANBC wrote to Kingsley Neville alleging that £22,393.32 was due to it.   

 AUTONUM 
ANBC inherited poor membership data.  BTS Warwick suggested that a full investigation of all Scheme administrators (including Lowndes, Hartley and Eagle Star) should be made in order to establish where responsibility lay for this.  However, it conceded that it doubted that such an exercise would be worthwhile as the fundamental problem would probably lie with the information being provided by the Trustees and the various employing companies rather than with the administrators themselves.  

 AUTONUM 
It has been suggested that, even before April 1997 and the establishment of Opra, ANBC ought to have notified relevant authorities (possibly the Occupational Pensions Board (OPB)) of its concerns.  ANBC contend that it could not do so because, prior to April 1997, there was no “statutory relief from their duty of confidentiality”.  I do not accept this.  ANBC does not state what “duty of confidentiality” as an administrator it had.  It was certainly not a professional duty, neither was it an express contractual duty.  It further contends that the Contributions Agency and the OPB were both aware of problems at least from 1995.  As matter of good administration, where anyone involved in the administration of a pension scheme is aware of problems, in particular problems which may affect the security of benefits, then he/she ought properly to raise it, initially formally with the trustees and, if no satisfactory response is received, with an external authority.  

 AUTONUM 
ANBC confirms that it did not calculate transfer values.  This was a matter for the Scheme Actuary.  ANBC was responsible only for calculating benefits.  I cannot find that ANBC could or should have been aware that transfer values should not be being paid.  Even if that were not the case, I am not satisfied that the Scheme was “insolvent” until Gidney Securities Limited became unable to repay the loans which was, at the earliest, the date a receiver was appointed (June 1995).  

 AUTONUM 
With hindsight ANBC might have been in a position to blow the whistle in respect of the unusual funding of the Scheme.  However, its primary responsibility lay with Scheme documentation.  ANBC was not aware of the Scheme investments and it was not within its responsibilities to make itself aware.  The documentation was in a poor state and, according to BTS Warwick, it is still not resolved.  Over a period of 5 years ANBC did make some efforts to bring the membership documentation into order, but failed.  I find that this amounts to maladministration on the part of ANBC but cannot find that this has caused Mr Irving injustice.  No details of any alleged financial loss to the Scheme as a result of ANBC’s maladministration has been produced.  I might be able to consider any individual complaints from other members who claim to have suffered injustice as a result of the poor membership records.

Kingsley Neville

 AUTONUM 
There clearly was an agreement between Kingsley Neville and ANBC as to the payment of fees.  ANBC received payment and then passed 25% on to Kingsley Neville.  There is no doubt, from the papers I have seen, that Kingsley Neville genuinely worked for the Scheme and thus was entitled to some form of payment.  ANBC has produced an invoice from Kingsley Neville for work done.  Whilst the arrangement appears to be somewhat unorthodox (and I have received conflicting accounts from ANBC and Kingsley Neville as to the arrangements for payment), I cannot find on the balance of probabilities that the Scheme money Kingsley Neville received from ANBC was not due to it for services actually rendered to the Scheme.   

Bradstocks

 AUTONUM 
The Gidneys have made various allegations against Bradstocks (and BTS Warwick) and their solicitors, Eversheds.  These relate to statements made to both this office and the Pensions Compensation Board and primarily concern the valuation and marketing of Wolston.  In particular they allege that, as a result of advice from Eversheds, a major tenant was lost from Wolston and that Wolston’s market value may have suffered.  It may be appropriate for these matters to be considered by my successor Ombudsman as part of the investigation held over for his or her consideration.   

DR JULIAN FARRAND

Pensions Ombudsman

16 August 2001
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